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2019 2018

RECONCILIATION OF THE EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

RESULT BEFORE INCOME TAX -8,870 -14,145
TAX AT DOMESTIC TAX RATE -29.58%� 2,624 -29.58%� 4,184
Share of profit of equity accounted investees net of tax 520 -474
Increase/decrease resulting from:

Effects of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions -3,071 -3,146
Non-deductible expenses -385 -1,136
Other taxes (*) -813 0
Current year tax losses/ credits for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised -13,151 -5,353
Use of tax credits, tax losses carried forward,... for which no DTA was recognised before 10,449 5,042
Tax exempt income -806 -982

Adjustments in respect of prior years 301 -60
48.83%� -4,332 13.61%� -1,925

(*) The other taxes relate mainly to local company taxes paid in EXMAR Shipmanagement Congo (branch of EXMAR Shipmanagement) relating to NKOSSA. 

10. DISPOSAL OF AN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEE  
(IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

On June 29, 2019 EXMAR signed an agreement with Compagnie Maritime Belge (“CMB”) for the sale of its 50% share in RESLEA, owner of the 
office buildings in Antwerp. The investment in this equity accounted investee has been derecognised from the balance sheet. The sale resulted in a 
gain of USD 19.2 million. 

Year ended 31/12/2019

A. CONSIDERATION RECEIVED

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 18,667
Composition of consideration received

Disposal of an equity accounted investee 24,791
Repayment of a loan granted by an equity accounted investee to EXMAR -6,124

18,667

The sales price of RESLEA amounts to EUR 22.2 million (USD 24.8 million). The difference with the sales prices reported per 30/06/2019 
relates on the one hand to the adjustment of the sales prices as a consequence of the adjusted net equity based on final financial statements per 
30/06/2019. On the other hand, the difference relates to changes in the EUR/USD exchange rate. 

Year ended 31/12/2019

B. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF AN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEE

Contractual consideration 24,791
Carrying amount of the equity accounted investee disposed of -5,627

19,164
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COMPARATIVE INFORMATION AS DISCLOSED IN ANNUAL REPORT 2018 
DISPOSAL OF AN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEE IN 2018

On January 31, 2018 EXMAR has sold its 50% share in Excelsior BVBA (owner of LNGRV EXCELSIOR) to Excelerate Energy LP. Per 31 December 
2017, the investment in Excelsior was presented as an equity accounted investee held for sale. We also refer to note 17 of this annual report. The 
investment in this equity accounted investee has been derecognised from the balance sheet., the sale resulted in a gain of USD 30.9 million. 

Year ended 31/12/2018

A. CONSIDERATION RECEIVED

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 44,438
Composition of consideration received

Disposal of an equity accounted investee 54,438
Repayment of a loan granted by an equity accounted investee to EXMAR -10,000

44,438

Year ended 31/12/2018

B. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF AN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEE

Total consideration received 44,438
Repayment of loan granted by an equity accounted investee to EXMAR 10,000
Carrying amount of the equity accounted investee disposed of -23,546

30,892
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11. VESSELS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

Shipping Infrastructure

Under 
construction 

- advance 
payments (*)

Total

COST 2018

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2018 118,500 453,562 0 572,062
Changes during the financial year

Acquisitions 742 18,815 19,557
Disposals -270 0 -270
Conversion differences 0 0 0

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 118,972 472,377 0 591,349

COST 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 118,972 472,377 0 591,349
Changes during the financial year

Acquisitions (**) 5,353 13,736 15,470 34,559
Disposals -2,378 0 0 -2,378
Conversion differences 0 0 0 0

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 121,947 486,113 15,470 623,530

DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 2018

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2018 9,041 0 0 9,041
Changes during the financial year

Depreciations 5,983 12,172 18,155
Disposals -270 0 -270
Conversion differences 0 0 0

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 14,754 12,172 0 26,926

DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 14,754 12,172 0 26,926
Changes during the financial year

Depreciations 6,200 16,177 22,377
Disposals -2,378 0 -2,378
Conversion differences 0 0 0

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 18,576 28,349 0 46,925

NET BOOK VALUE

NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 104,218 460,205 0 564,423
NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 103,371 457,764 15,470 576,605

(*) The advance payments in respect of vessels under construction have been presented under vessels in the consolidated statement of financial position. The advance payments 
made do not give EXMAR ownership rights on the vessels before their final delivery. The advance payments registered during 2019 relate to 2 VLGC’s with LPG as fuel. The 
delivery of these vessels is expected in the second quarter of 2021. 

(**) During 2019, additional investments occurred in respect of the TANGO FLNG and the FSRU (Infrastructure segment). Depreciations on both units started in the course of 
2018, they are depreciated over a period of 30 years. Investments in the shipping segment mainly relate to capitalised dry-dock expenses. 

The vessels are pledged as a security for the related underlying liabilities. We refer to note 25 for more information in respect of these underlying 
liabilities. 

IMPAIRMENT

For the wholly-owned fleet, internal and external triggers are evaluated which indicate that the carrying value of this fleet should be tested for im-
pairment. The carrying amount of the fleet is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value 
in use. 
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The fair value less costs to sell is based upon the average fair market value as determined by two independent ship brokers. This market value is 
corrected with an average brokerage commission to be paid when a vessel is sold. The value in use is based upon the estimated future cash flows 
discounted to their present value and reflecting current market assessments relating to freight rate estimates, employment and operating expenses. 
The operating cash flows are based on internal information and a sensitivity analysis is performed on each assumption. The discounted cash flow 
model used by management includes cash flows for the remaining lifetime of the wholly-owned fleet. Three year cash flow forecasts are estimated by 
management based upon the past experience as well as current market expectations regarding volumes and freight rates going forward. Freight rates 
as well as operating expenses subsequent to this three year period are expected to change in line with estimated inflation afterwards. The discount 
rate used is a weighted average cost of capital of 5.76% for the shipping segment and 3.93% for the infrastructure segment. 

For the FSRU, a fair value calculation was obtained based on a valuation report of an independent ship broker. Based on this valuation report and 
expected earnings under its employment, management has concluded that no impairment correction is required for the FSRU barge. 

For the jointly-owned fleet, impairment triggers are evaluated in the same way as for the wholly-owned fleet. We refer to note 15 for more infor-
mation in this respect. 

12. OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

Land and 
buildings

Machinery and 
equipment

Furniture and 
movables Total

COST 2018

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2018 4,216 1,166 5,308 10,690
Changes during the financial year

Acquisitions 0 168 275 443
Disposals 0 0 -510 -510
Translation differences -191 -9 -106 -306

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 4,025 1,325 4,967 10,317

COST 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 4,025 1,325 4,967 10,317
Changes during the financial year

Acquisitions 0 74 262 336
Disposals 0 -2 -558 -561
Translation differences -76 2 -38 -112

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 3,949 1,399 4,633 9,980

DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 2018

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2018 3,400 931 4,036 8,367
Changes during the financial year

Depreciations 31 176 428 635
Disposals 0 0 -469 -469
Translation differences -155 -9 -84 -248

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 3,276 1,098 3,911 8,285

DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 3,276 1,098 3,911 8,285
Changes during the financial year

Depreciations 30 143 376 549
Disposals 0 -2 -558 -561
Translation differences -62 2 -31 -90

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 3,244 1,241 3,698 8,183

NET BOOK VALUE 

NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 749 227 1,056 2,032
NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 704 158 935 1,797
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

Concessions, patents, 
licences

COST 2018

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2018 3,077
Changes during the financial year

Acquisitions 34
Disposals 0
Translation differences -63

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 3,048

COST 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 3,048
Changes during the financial year

Acquisitions 122
Disposals -453
Translation differences -32

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 2,685

DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 2018

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2018 2,465
Changes during the financial year

Depreciations 211
Disposals 0
Translation differences -33

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 2,643

DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 2,643
Changes during the financial year

Depreciations 145
Disposals -267
Translation differences -31

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 2,490

NET BOOK VALUE 

NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 405
NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 195
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. As a 
result the Group, as a lessee, has recognised right-of-use assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities representing 
its obligation to make lease payments. The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under this approach comparative 
information is not restated and the impact on retained earnings is determined as zero. We refer in this respect also to the accounting policies section 
E and to note 31. 

Property Motor vehicles IT equipment Total

COST 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 5,529 6,901 596 13,026
Changes during the financial year

Acquisitions (*) 172 12,369 0 12,541
Disposals -48 -73 0 -121
Translation differences 24 0 0 24
Contract re-measurement/ contract modification 25 -1 29 53
Transfer (*) 0 -17,166 0 -17,166

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 5,702 2,030 625 8,357

DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 2019

BALANCE AS PER 01 JANUARY 2019 0 0 0 0
Changes during the financial year

Depreciations 1,721 1,764 215 3,700
Impairment 0 4,712 0 4,712
Translation differences 0 0 0 0
Transfer (*) 0 -6,166 0 -6,166

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 1,721 310 215 2,246

NET BOOK VALUE 

NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 1 JANUARY 2019 5,529 6,901 596 13,026
NET BOOK VALUE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 3,981 1,720 410 6,111

(*) The change in the motor vehicles right-of-use assets can be mainly explained by a contractual modification for an aircraft with the establishment of a purchase obligation. In 
the course of 2019 an impairment loss of USD 4.7 million has been registered in the statement of profit or loss to reflect the current market value of the asset. Per 31 December 
2019, the aircraft has been presented as non- current asset held for sale in the balance sheet. We refer in this respect also to note 18 of this annual report. 

15. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

BALANCE AS PER 1 JANUARY 104,490 104,416
Changes during the financial year

Share in the profit/loss(-) 1,757 -1,603
Dividends paid -5,000 -2,000
Changes in consolidation scope (*) -5,359 -938
Allocation of negative net assets (**) 3,224 4,691
Conversion differences -69 -403
Changes in other comprehensive income equity accounted investees -3,486 1,000
Other 0 -673

BALANCE AS PER 31 DECEMBER 95,557 104,490

(*)The changes in consolidation scope in 2019 relate to the sale of RESLEA (we refer to note 10 for further information in this respect) and to the sale of the BIM companies 
(Bureau International Maritime NV, Bureau International Maritime Congo and Compagnie Parisienne Formation et Logistique). 

(**) The equity accounted investees for whom the share in the net assets is negative, are allocated to other components of the investor’s interest in the equity accounted investee 
and if the negative net asset exceeds the investor’s interest, a corresponding liability is recognized. 
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EXMAR has analysed the existing joint arrangements and has concluded that the existing joint arrangements are all joint ventures in accordance with 
IFRS 11 “joint arrangements”. 

EXMAR has provided guarantees to financial institutions that have provided credit facilities to her equity accounted investees. As of December 31, 
2019, an amount of USD 543.4 million (2018: USD 637.1 million) was outstanding under such loan agreements, of which EXMAR has guaranteed 
USD 271.7 million (2018: USD 318.5 million). We refer in this respect also to note 30. EXMAR did not incur material contingent liabilities versus 
its equity accounted investees. 

Following regulatory requirements or borrowing arrangements, our joint ventures or associates may be restricted to make cash distributions such as 
dividend payments or repayments of shareholder loans. Under the borrowing arrangements our joint ventures or associates may only make a distribu-
tion if no event of default or no breach of any covenant  would result from such distribution. Under corporate law, dividend distributions are restricted 
if the net assets would be less than the amount of paid up capital plus any reserves that cannot be distributed.

For the jointly-owned fleet, impairment triggers are evaluated in the same way as for the wholly-owned fleet. We refer to note 11 for more informa-
tion in this respect. We refer to note 38 Subsequent events for the impairment loss registered on the vessel TEMSE. 

16. FINANCIAL INFORMATION EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES  
(IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

ASSETS

Interest in joint ventures 86,697 96,679
Interest in associates 8,860 7,811
Borrowings to equity accounted investees 49,979 54,203

145,536 158,693

LIABILITIES

Interest in joint ventures 0 0
Interest in associates 0 0

0 0

Segment JV partner Description activities

JOINT VENTURES

Estrela Ltd Infrastructure ASS Owner of the accommodation barge NUNCE
EXMAR Gas Shipping Ltd Shipping TEEKAY LPG Owner of the midsize vessels TOURAINE and WEPION
EXMAR LPG BVBA Shipping TEEKAY LPG Holding company for EXMAR-Teekay LPG activities
EXMAR Shipping BVBA Shipping TEEKAY LPG Owner of 18 midsize carriers, 5 carriers under finance lease
Good Investment Ltd Shipping TEEKAY LPG Time-charter agreement of the VLGC BW TOKYO
Monteriggioni Inc Shipping MOL Owner of the LNG carrier EXCEL which was sold during 2017
Solaia Shipping Llc Shipping TEEKAY LNG Owner of the LNG carrier EXCALIBUR

The company RESLEA is no longer recognized as joint venture due to the sale of the shares of this company in June 2019. We refer to note 10 for 
more information in this respect. 

Segment Ownership% Description activities

ASSOCIATES

Bexco NV Services 44.91% Rope manufacturer for marine and offshore industry
Marpos NV Services 45.00% Provides waste solutions for maritime industry
Electra Offshore Ltd Infrastructure 40.00% Owner of the accommodation barge WARIBOKO
Exview Hong Kong Ltd Infrastructure 40.00% Bareboat owner of the accommodation barge WARIBOKO
Springmarine Nigeria Ltd Infrastructure 40.00% Time-charter agreement for the accommodation barge WARIBOKO

The companies Bureau International Maritime NV, Bureau International Maritime Congo and Compagnie Parisienne Formation et Logistique are no 
longer recognized as associates due to the sale of the shares of these companies in December 2019 (loss of USD 0.2 million). 
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17. BORROWINGS TO EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 
(IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

Shipping Infrastructure Total

BORROWINGS TO EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 2018

AS PER 1 JANUARY 2018 50,273 12,971 63,244
New loans and borrowings 0 0 0
Repayments 0 -4,350 -4,350
Change in allocated negative net assets (*) -4,910 219 -4,691

AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018 45,363 8,840 54,203
MORE THAN 1 YEAR 45,363 3,965 49,328
LESS THAN 1 YEAR 0 4,875 4,875

Shipping Infrastructure Total

BORROWINGS TO EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 2019

AS PER 1 JANUARY 2019 45,363 8,840 54,203
New loans and borrowings 0 0 0
Repayments 0 -1,000 -1,000
Change in allocated negative net assets (*) -3,296 72 -3,224

AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019 42,067 7,912 49,979
MORE THAN 1 YEAR 42,067 7,412 49,479
LESS THAN 1 YEAR 0 500 500

(*) The equity accounted investees for whom the share in the net assets is negative, are allocated to other components of the investor’s interest in the equity accounted investee 
and if the negative net asset exceeds the investor’s interest, a corresponding liability is recognized. 

The activities and assets of certain of our equity accounted investees are financed by shareholder borrowings made by the company to the respec-
tive equity accounted investees. The current portion of such borrowings is presented as other receivables. The balances mentioned below between 
brackets represent the outstanding balances including netting of negative net assets. 

EXMAR LPG (Shipping segment) - USD 42.1 million (2018: USD 45.4 million)
Both shareholders have granted shareholder loans to EXMAR LPG in 2013. Repayment occurs based on availability of cash and only if such repay-
ment would not result in a breach of the covenants applicable on the bank borrowings to EXMAR LPG. The applicable interest rate on these loans 
amounts to three-month LIBOR plus 0.5%. 

Electra Offshore Ltd (Infrastructure segment) - USD 7.9 million (2018: USD 8.8 million)
EXMAR Netherlands has granted a loan to Electra Offshore Ltd in 2016. The loan is repaid based on availability of cash. The interest rate applicable 
on the loan is a fixed percentage of 12%. 

18. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Aircraft 11,000 0
11,000 0

A purchase obligation has been registered for an aircraft as a consequence of a contractual modification. In the course of 2019, an impairment loss 
of USD 4.7 million has been registered in the statement of profit or loss to reflect the current market value of the asset. Per 31 December 2019, the 
aircraft has been presented as non-current asset held for sale in the balance sheet because of EXMAR’s intent to sell the aircraft.
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19. OTHER INVESTMENTS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

EQUITY SECURITIES - FVTPL

Unquoted shares (*) 1,004 1,237
Quoted shares (**) 3,166 2,785

4,170 4,022

(*) The unquoted shares include the 149 shares of Sibelco, which were acquired during 2014. 

(**) The quoted shares include the 149,089 shares of Teekay LNG (TGP) quoted at USD 15.35 on 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: USD 11.02) and the 116,338 shares 
of Frontera Energy Corporation quoted at CAD 9.8 on 31 December 2019 (31 December2018: CAD 13.38). 

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables & contract assets 30,028 25,001
Cash guarantees 263 209
Borrowings to equity accounted investees less than 1 year 500 4,875
Other receivables 7,795 38,599
Deferred charges and accrued income (*) 5,017 3,661

43,603 72,345
OF WHICH FINANCIAL ASSETS (NOTE 30) 35,107 65,815

(*) ‘Deferred charges’ comprise expenses already invoiced relating to the next accounting year, e.g. hire, insurances, commissions, bunkers,... 
‘Accrued income’ comprises uninvoiced revenue related to the current accounting period, e.g. interests,...

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 30. 

The decrease in other receivables is mainly due to the advance payments made for the building of 2 VLGC newbuildings to Hanjin Heavy Industries 
& Construction. On January 8, 2019 Hanjin Heavy Industries & Construction at Subic Bay (Philippines) filed for rehabilitation due to financial diffi-
culties. The construction disruptions caused thereby obliged EXMAR to cancel both Shipbuilding Contracts and invoke the Refund Guarantee from 
Korean Development Bank (South Korea) to recover each of the Instalments already paid (as a consequence, the installments have been presented 
as “other receivables” per 31 December 2018). These instalments (USD 27.2 million) have been repaid during the first semester of 2019 together 
with an interest of 6%. 
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21. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2019 2018

CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Current tax assets 1,353 190
Current tax liabilities 5,116 2,362

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities increase mainly as a consequence of a received additional tax assessment for accounting year 2017 for 
EXMAR NV. EXMAR disputes this tax assessment and has simultaneously registered a tax liability (to reflect the received assessment note) and a tax 
receivable (to reflect the disputed tax assessment note). As the management assessed that the tax claim is not valid, a receivable, for the same amount 
as the liability, has been accounted for in the consolidated financial statements per 31 December 2019. 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN DETAIL (*)

Provisions 0 100 0 100
Employee benefits 2,254 3,612 0
Vessels 0 0 0 2,504
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS / LIABILITIES 2,254 100 3,612 2,604
Set off of taks assets/ liabilities -100 0 -2,604 0
Tax assets not recognised (**) -2,154 0 -1,008 0

0 0 0 0

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED (***)

Deductible temporary differences 2,154 1,008
Unused tax losses and investment tax credits (***) 43,422 48,145

45,576 0 49,153 0

(*) The temporary differences that exist within our equity accounted investees are not included in above overview of deferred tax assets and liabilities in detail. 

(**) These deferred tax assets have not been recognised because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can use the benefits there-
from or because the future taxable profits cannot be measured on a reliable basis. 

(***) The unused tax losses and the main part of the investment tax credits do not expire in time. 
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22. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
(IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

RESTRICTED CASH 67,270 67,270
Bank 52,145 39,461
Cash in hand 83 118
Short-term deposits 398 258
NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 52,626 39,837

The restricted cash relates to the credit facility with the Bank of China for the TANGO FLNG (see also note 25). On February 26, 2020 the Bank of 
China released USD 40 million of the restricted cash or debt service reserve account (DSRA). The balance of the DSRA will be released pro rata the 
repayment of the outstanding debt. 

23. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

2019 2018

NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES

Issued shares as per 1 January 59,500,000 59,500,000
Issued shares as per 31 December - paid in full 59,500,000 59,500,000

The issued shares have no nominal value. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends and are entitled to one vote per share during the 
General Shareholders’ Meetings of the Company.

DIVIDENDS

No distribution to owners of the Company occurred for 2019 and 2018.

TREASURY SHARES

The reserve for treasury shares comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group. 

2019 2018

TREASURY SHARES

Number of treasury shares held as of 31 December (*) 2,273,263 2,273,263
Bookvalue of treasury shares held (in thousands USD) 44,349 44,349
Average cost price per share (in EUR) - historical value 14.1507 14.1507

(*) No treasury shares have been sold during 2019 in respect of the share option plans. 
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TRANSLATION RESERVE

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations and 
the financial statements of consolidated companies not reporting in USD as functional currency. 

HEDGING RESERVE

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to the 
hedged transactions that have not yet occurred. In certain of our equity accounted investees, interest rate swaps (IRS) contracts have been closed 
to cover their exposure on variable interest rates. 

24. EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE IN USD

Result for the period (in USD) -13,218,671 -15,912,725
Issued ordinary shares as per 31 December 59,500,000 59,500,000
Effect of treasury shares -2,273,263 -2,454,561
Weighted average number of ordinary shares as per 31 December 57,226,737 57,045,439

-0.23 -0.28

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE IN USD

Result for the period (in USD) -13,218,671 -15,912,725
Weighted average number of ordinary shares as per 31 December 57,226,737 57,045,439
Average closing rate of one ordinary share during the year (in EUR)� (a) 5.65 5.99
Average exercise price for shares under option (in EUR)� (b) 0.00 0.00
Number of shares under option� (c) 0 0
Number of shares that would have been issued at average market price: (c*b) / a 0 0
Weighted average number of ordinary shares including options 57,226,737 57,045,439

-0.23* -0.28

(*) As option plan 4, 8, 9 and 10 are anti-dilutive as per 31 December 2019, they are not included in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share. 
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25. BORROWINGS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

Bank loans Other loans Lease liabilities 
ROU assets (*) Total

BORROWINGS AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018

AS OF 1 JANUARY 2018 246,973 125,734 0 372,707
New loans 49,173 20,411 0 69,584
Scheduled repayments -56,379 -1,126 0 -57,505
Paid transaction costs -1,646 -649 0 -2,295
Amortized transaction costs 2,114 1,236 0 3,350
Translation differences 0 -6,188 0 -6,188
Accrued interest payable 4,702 2,512 0 7,214
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018 244,937 141,930 0 386,867
More than 1 year 204,690 16,519 0 221,209
Less than 1 year 40,247 125,411 0 165,658
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018 244,937 141,930 0 386,867 
Shipping segment 67,555 18,635 0 86,190
Infrastructure segment 177,354 123,295 0 300,649
Services segment 28 0 0 28
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018 244,937 141,930 0 386,867 

BORROWINGS AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019

AS OF 1 JANUARY 2019 AS PREVIOUSLY REPORTED 244,937 141,930 0 386,867
ADJUSTMENT ON INITIAL APPLICATION OF IFRS 16 (NET OF TAX) (*) 0 0 13,026 13,026
ADJUSTED BALANCE AT 01 JANUARY 2019 244,937 141,930 13,026 399,893
New loans (**) 61,705 107,688 11,198 180,591
Scheduled repayments (**) -43,309 -125,997 -2,600 -171,906
Paid transaction costs -922 -1,935 0 -2,857
Amortized transaction costs 2,502 1,122 0 3,624
Translation differences 0 -1,393 -10 -1,403
Accrued interest payable -811 -1,749 0 -2,560
Contract re-measurement/ contract modification 0 0 51 51
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2019 264,102 119,666 21,665 405,433
More than 1 year 200,473 118,903 4,206 323,582 
Less than 1 year 63,629 763 17,459 81,851 
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2019 264,102 119,666 21,665 405,433 
Shipping segment 70,178 46,118 16,338 132,634
Infrastructure segment 161,872 73,548 2,687 238,107
Services segment 32,052 0 2,640 34,692
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2019 264,102 119,666 21,665 405,433

2019 2018

CREDIT LINES

Total credit lines 36,740 21,870
Drawn credit lines -32,000 0 
Available credit lines 4,740 21,870

(*) The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective method. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated and the 
impact on retained earnings is determined as zero. We refer in this respect also to the accounting policies section E and to note 31. 

(**) The sum of the new bank and other loans is reflected under “proceeds from new borrowings” in the cash flow statement. The sum of the scheduled repayments for bank and 
other loans is reflected under “repayments of borrowings” in the cash flow statement. 



EX
M

AR
 R

EP
O

RT
 2

01
9

102

BANK LOANS

The bank loans mainly relate to the LPG pressurized facilities and the TANGO FLNG facility

NEW LPG pressurized facilities - USD 70.2 million (2018: USD 47.7 million)
In the last quarter of 2018, EXMAR refinanced its LPG pressurized fleet. Five vessels were refinanced under this transaction in October 2018, one 
vessel in December 2018 and four vessels in April 2019. The loans are repayable in quarterly tranches and the applicable interest percentage amounts 
to three-month LIBOR plus 2.4%. The last repayment is foreseen in December 2025. All obligations of the borrower are guaranteed by EXMAR 
NV (“guarantor”). 

TANGO FLNG facility - USD 161.9 million (2018: USD 177.4 million)
End of June 2017, EXPORT Lng Limited (a 100% subsidiary of EXMAR NV) has signed a financing agreement of USD 200 million with the Bank 
of China (Boc), Deutsche Bank and Sinosure for the financing of the TANGO FLNG. This loan has been drawn on 27 July 2017 at the time of the 
delivery of the CARIBBEAN FLNG, renamed TANGO FLNG. The agreement with BoC provides a repayment period of 12 years and the loan bears 
interest at a rate of six-month LIBOR plus 3%. The yearly estimated debt service amounts to USD 25 million. All obligations of the borrower are 
guaranteed by EXMAR NV (“guarantor”). There is a requirement for EXPORT to deposit an amount equal to 30 months principal plus interest, i.e. 
an amount of USD 67.3 million, on an escrow account as long that no long-term employment is in place. Further to the successful performance ac-
ceptance tests of the TANGO FLNG on 5 June 2019, EXMAR met all conditions for the partial release (USD 40 million in a first phase) of the debt 
service reserve account (amounting in total USD 67.3 million) in respect of the USD 200 million loan with Bank of China and Deutsche Bank. This 
release was subject to the approval of SINOSURE, the latter took more time than expected. On February 26, 2020 Bank of China finally released 
the amount of USD 40 million from the debt service reserve account. The amount of USD 40 million has been partially allocated to the repayment 
of the bridge loans and to cover EXMAR’s capital commitments.

Bridge loans - USD 15 million & straight loans - USD 17 million
The delay incurred by the release of the Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) has caused pressure on the liquidity position of EXMAR in 2019 and 
early 2020. Pending the release of the DSRA, EXMAR closed a bridge loan in the amount of USD 30 million with NORDEA and BELFIUS who 
assisted EXMAR during this interim period to temporarily increase its liquidity. The applicable interest percentage amounted to 1-month LIBOR plus 
4% for Nordea and plus 3.25% for Belfius. These bridge loans have been reduced to USD 15 million in December and have been fully repaid end of 
February 2020 with the released amount from the debt service reserve account (DSRA). EXMAR also used USD 17 million per 31 December 2019 
from its available credit facilities (USD 21 million) in the form of straight loans. A part of these straight loans (USD 4.4 million) has been repaid end 
of February 2020 with the released amount from the DSRA. The applicable interest percentage amounted to 1-month LIBOR plus 2.55%. 

OTHER LOANS

The other loans relate mainly to a senior unsecured bond issue. This bond was closed in July 2014 by EXMAR Netherlands BV (“issuer”), a 100% 
subsidiary of EXMAR NV, for an amount of NOK 700 million. During 2015, an additional amount of NOK 300 million has been issued (second 
tranche on the original NOK 700 million bond). The total nominal amount outstanding amounted to NOK 1 billion with initial maturity date in July 
2017. In June 2017, the term of the bond has been amended and extended until July 2019. As a consequence of the extension of the term of the 
bond, each bond holder had the possibility to exchange NOK bonds to USD bonds. The interest percentage applicable on the remaining NOK bonds 
amounted to three-month NIBOR plus a margin of 8%. The exchanged USD bonds beared an interest percentage of three-month LIBOR plus 
a margin of 8.5%. In June 2019, the bond of NOK 1 billion has been fully repaid. This repayment was financed partially with a new bond issued and 
partially with available resources. 

EXMAR Netherlands BV, a fully owned subsidiary of EXMAR NV, has successfully completed a new unsecured bond issue of NOK 650 million 
with a coupon of 3 months NIBOR plus 8.75% and with maturity date in May 2022. All obligations of the issuer are guaranteed by EXMAR NV 
(“guarantor”). EXMAR NV has to maintain direct or indirect a 100% ownership in the issuer. The NOK/ USD exposure and the NOK interest rate 
exposure are not covered by any financial instrument contract. We refer to note 30 for the interest risk and currency risk exposure and related 
sensitivity analysis. 

EXMAR has two Very Large Gas Carriers under construction at Jiangnan, due for delivery in the course of 2021. The two vessels will each enter a five 
year time-charter to Equinor upon delivery from the shipyard. EXMAR has obtained and drawn under a pre-delivery financing of USD 20 million 
with Maritime Asset Partners, which partially covers the instalments during the construction of these vessels. The repayment date of this pre-de-
livery financing is the earlier of the delivery date or the maturity date (June 2021). The interest percentage applicable on this pre-delivery financing 
amounts to 10.75% per annum. 

OTHER INFORMATION

EXMAR’s barge based FSRU was delivered end of December 2017. The unit was able to obtain a long-term contract with GUNVOR and its em-
ployment commenced in October 2018. The FSRU has been mainly financed with available resources. The finance documentation for the sale and 
lease back of the FSRU barge by CSSC shipping was finalized and signed at the end of August. A first tranche of approximately USD 78.0 million was 
conditional upon fulfilment of the conditions precedent under the lease agreement (including security documents requiring charterers’ signature) 
and a second tranche of USD 31.0 million upon start of the regasification operations at a location. In September 2019, GUNVOR gave notice of 
a dispute with respect to the execution of the Charter and has commenced arbitration. This arbitration procedure could last several months. Under 
the ongoing arbitration procedure, the financing of the asset could not be completed at this stage of the procedure. Meanwhile the charter remains 
in full force and effect.
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In general, the borrowings held by EXMAR and its equity accounted investees are secured by a mortgage on the underlying assets owned by EXMAR 
and its equity accounted investees. Furthermore, different pledges and other types of guarantees exist to secure the borrowings. In addition, dividend 
restrictions are included as a special covenant in the terms of the bond. EXMAR shall not declare or make any dividend payment or distribution, 
whether in cash or in kind, that in aggregate exceed 50% of the consolidated net profit after tax (proportionate consolidation) based on the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the previous financial year. EXMAR has pledged financial assets as collateral for liabilities. We refer to note 22 
where the amount of restricted cash in respect of financing agreements is disclosed. 

COVENANTS

Different debt covenants exist that require compliance with certain financial ratio’s. These ratio’s are calculated semi-annually based on EXMAR’s 
consolidated figures in which equity accounted investees are not accounted for under IFRS 11 but still on a proportionate basis (similar to accounting 
policies used for segment reporting purposes). In case of non-compliance with these covenants, early repayment of related borrowings might be 
required and should therefore be accounted for as short term debt. We refer to the table below for an overview of the applicable covenants. 

APPLICABLE COVENANTS
RATIO Pressurized facility  TANGO FLNG 

facility  Bond  Other (*)  Actual 
31/12/2019 (**) 

Minimum/ Book equity ratio ≥ USD 300 million ≥ USD 300 million ≥ USD 300 million
≥ USD 300 million 

+ 50% of  
net positive income

448.94

Minimum free cash ≥ USD 25 million ≥ USD 25 million ≥ USD 25 million ≥ USD 40 million 81.98
Equity ratio (Equity/Total assets) ≥ 25% ≥ 25% NA ≥ 25% 40.12%
Net Interest Bearing Debt or NIBD/equity NA NA Maximum 2,50 NA 1.28
Interest Coverage ratio NA min 2:1 min 2:1 NA 2.30
Working capital ratio min positive min positive min positive min positive 82.80
Net financial indebtedness ratio NA NA NA < 70% 58.52%
Outstanding loan amount 96,296 161,872 73,548 48,041

(*) The other covenants partly relate to loan amounts which are registered in our proportionate consolidation but not in our equity consolidation. The outstanding loan amount 
for this covenant is not included in the outstanding loan amount in the table above. The outstanding loan amount for this covenant in our proportionate consolidation amounts to 
USD 21.7 million. 

(**) The actual amounts presented are based on the most restrictive definitions. 

As of December 31, 2019 EXMAR was compliant with all covenants with sufficient headroom. 

EXMAR believes that as per June 2020 and December 2020, all covenants will be met. EXMAR is continuously monitoring compliance with all 
applicable covenants. 

If a breach of covenants would occur, the Company will request and believes it will be able to obtain a waiver from the relevant lenders. Following steps 
are to be taken in accordance with applicable agreements if a breach of covenants would occur:

•	Each borrower shall notify the Facility Agent of any Defaults (and the steps, if any, taken to remedy it) promptly upon becoming aware of its oc-
currence. 

•	Promptly, upon the request by the Facility Agent, the Borrower shall supply a certificate signed by two of its directors certifying that no Default is 
continuing, specifying the Default and the steps, if any, being taken to remedy it. 
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26. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

The Group established a share option plan program that entitles certain employees to register for a number of shares. The share options are only 
exercisable after a period of three years and for employees still in service after this three year period. Each share option entitles the holder of the 
option to one EXMAR share. 
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the exercise price of the granted share options. 
The estimated fair value of the services received is measured based on a binomial lattice model. The contractual life of the option is used as an input 
into this model. 

Plan 10 Plan 9 Plan 8 Plan 4

GRANT DATE FAIR VALUE OF SHARE OPTIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS AT INCEPTION

Number of options outstanding at year-end (*) 371,500 374,100 437,600 212,958
Fair value at grant date (in EUR) 3.21 2.32 3.36 5.64
Share price at grant date (in EUR) 9.62 10.00 11.33 16.80
Exercise price at inception (in EUR) (*) 9.62 10.54 10.54 14.64
Expected volatility (**) 40.70% 30.60% 31.40% 25.78%
Option life at inception (***) 8 years 8 years 8 years 8 years
Maturity date 2023 2022 2021 2020
Expected dividends 0.3 eur/y 0.3 eur/y 0.4 eur/y 0.5 eur/y
Risk-free interest rate 0.53% 0.62% 1.87% 4.29%

(*) The number of options granted and the exercise prices for option plans have been adjusted due to the dilutive effect of the capital increase (adjustment ratio of 0.794) 
of November 2009, extraordinary dividend distributions (adjustment ratio of 0.929) of May 2012 and extraordinary dividend distributions (adjustment ratio of 0.9364) of 
September 2013. The number of options granted and the exercise price mentioned above reflect the adjusted amounts. 

(**) The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to 
future volatility due to publicly available information.

(***) The board of directors of 23th March 2009 decided to extend the exercise period for option plans 1 - 4 by 5 years, in virtue of the decision by the Belgian Government to 
extend the Act of 26 March 1999 regarding stock options. At modification date additional fair value calculations were made based on the remaining and extended life time of the 
options.

Plan 1, 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7 have been removed from above table as the plans matured. Plan 5 matured at the end of 2016, plans 1 and 6 matured at the end 
of 2017, plans 2 and 7 matured at the end of 2018, plan 3 matured at the end of 2019. In respect of plan 3, zero options have been exercised during 
2019 and 386,008 options have forfeited as a consequence of the maturity of the plan. No new option plans have been granted in 2018 and 2019.

2019 2018

number of 
options

weighted 
average exercise 

price

number of 
options

weighted 
average exercise 

price

RECONCILIATION OF OUTSTANDING SHARE OPTIONS

OUTSTANDING AT 1 JANUARY 1,796,390 12.00 2,483,178 11.14
New options granted 0 0.00 0 0.00
Changes during the year

Options exercised 0 0.00 -211,984 4.71
Options forfeited -400,232 15.76 -474,804 10.76

OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER 1,396,158 10.92 1,796,390 12.00
EXERCISABLE AT 31 DECEMBER 1,396,158 10.92 1,796,390 12.00

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding options at the end of December 2019, amounts to 2.7 years (2018: 3.08 years). 
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2019 2018

SHARE OPTIONS

Total number of share options outstanding 1,396,158 1,796,390
Included in personnel expenses
� option plan 10 0 578

0 578

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

LIABILITY FOR DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN AND SIMILAR LIABILITIES

The Group provides pension benefits for most of its employees, either directly or through a contribution to an independent fund. The pension ben-
efits for management staff employed before 1 January 2008 are provided under a defined benefit plan. This plan is a defined benefit plan organized 
as a final pay program. 

For the management staff employed as from 1 January 2008, the management staff promoted to management as from 1 January 2008 and the 
management staff who reached the age of 60, the pension benefits are provided under a defined contribution plan. Belgian defined contribution 
plans are subject to the Law of April 28, 2003 on supplementary pensions (WAP). According to article 24 of this law, the employer has to guarantee 
a fixed minimum return of 3.25% on employer contributions and of 3.75% on employee contributions and this for contributions paid until December 
31, 2015. As from January 2016, the employer has to guarantee an average minimum return of 1.75% on both employer and employee contributions 
(as changed by the Law of 18 December 2015). This guaranteed minimum return generally exceeds the return that is normally guaranteed by the 
insurer. Because the employer has to guarantee the statutory minimum return on these plans, not all actuarial and investment risks relating to these 
plans are transferred to the insurance company managing the plans. Therefore these plans do not meet the definition of defined contribution plan 
under IFRS and have to be classified by default as defined benefit plans. An actuarial calculation has been performed in accordance with IAS 19 based 
on the projected unit credit method. The contributions recognised in the profit or loss statement in respect of this defined contribution plan amount 
to USD 0.6 million (2018: USD 0.6 million).
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for the defined benefit plan amounts to 6 years. The weighted average duration of 
the defined benefit obligation for the defined contribution plan amounts to 19 years. 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN

Present value of funded obligations -11,535 -11,697 -12,072 -11,297 -11,662
Fair value of the defined plan assets 8,839 7,626 7,361 7,098 7,217
PRESENT VALUE OF NET OBLIGATIONS -2,696 -4,072 -4,711 -4,198 -4,445

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - BELGIAN DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN WITH GUARANTEED RETURN

Present value of funded obligations -5,340 -4,703 -3,313 -3,845
Fair value of the defined plan assets 6,438 4,609 3,198 3,777
PRESENT VALUE OF NET OBLIGATIONS 1,099 -94 -115 -69 0
TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS -1,597 -4,166 -4,826 -4,267 -4,445
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN

2019 2018

CHANGES IN LIABILITY DURING THE PERIOD

LIABILITY AS PER 1 JANUARY 11,697 12,072
Distributions -622 -333
Actual employee's contributions 76 89
Interest cost 101 101
Current service cost 464 536
Actual taxes on contributions paid (excluding interest) -89 -102
Actuarial gains/losses 129 -114
Translation differences -222 -552
LIABILITY AS PER 31 DECEMBER 11,535 11,697

CHANGES OF FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS 

PLAN ASSETS AS PER 1 JANUARY 7,626 7,361
Contributions 808 929
Distributions -622 -333
Interest income 68 64
Actuarial gain/loss 145 117
Actual taxes on contributions paid (excluding interest) -89 -102
Actual administration costs -50 -58
Translation differences -144 -353
Correction paragraph 115 1,097 0
PLAN ASSETS AS PER 31 DECEMBER (*) 8,839 7,626

EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

Current service expenses -464 -536
Interest expense -101 -101
Expected return on plan assets 68 64
Administration cost -50 -58
TOTAL PENSION COST RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT (SEE NOTE 6) -547 -631

EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Recognition of actuarial gains and losses -16 -231
TOTAL PENSION COST RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -16 -231

MOST SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS, EXPRESSED IN WEIGHTED AVERAGES

Discount rate at 31 December 0.20% 0.90%
Expected return on assets at 31 December 0.20% 0.90%
Future salary increases (including inflation) (salary scales) (salary scales)
Mortality tables Belgian (MR/FR) Belgian (MR/FR)
Inflation 2% 2%

EXPECTED NEXT YEAR CONTRIBUTIONS

Best estimate of contributions expected to be paid during next year 835 960

DETAIL PLAN ASSETS INVESTMENTS

Shares 2% 2%
Bonds & loans 87% 90%
Property investments 7% 6%
Cash 4% 2%

(*) The plan assets do not include any shares issued by EXMAR or property occupied by EXMAR.
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28. PROVISIONS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

PROVISIONS

Long-term provisions (*) 0 2,360
AS PER 1 JANUARY 0 2,360
New provisions 0 0
Reversal of unused provisions (*) 0 -2,360
AS PER 31 DECEMBER 0 0
Long-term provisions (*) 0 0
AS PER 31 DECEMBER 0 0

(*) Following the partial demerger from CMB, EXMAR provided for 39% of the estimated exposure relating to the PSA claim against CMB. The provision in respect of this claim 
has been released in the statement of profit or loss during 2018 as a consequence of a confirmation from PSA that the litigation has been terminated. 

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

2019 2018

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 24,658 24,772
Other payables 10,655 15,258
Deferred income (*) 13,368 8,153

48,681 48,183
OF WHICH FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (NOTE 30) 34,695 39,877

(*) ‘Deferred income’ comprises already invoiced revenue, related to the next accounting year, e.g. freight, hire,...

The decrease in the other payables compared to 2018 can be mainly explained by the repayment of the loan granted by RESLEA to EXMAR as a 
consequence of the sale of RESLEA to CMB. We refer in this respect to note 10 of this annual report. 

Compared to previous year, deferred income shows an increase at year-end 2019. This increase is mainly triggered by the received prepayment 
(USD 3.3 million) from Excelerate Energy. In February 2019, Excelerate Energy, via the respective owning companies of each vessel, elected to 
terminate the ship management agreements for their 7 vessels managed by EXMAR Shipmanagement NV. In accordance with the contractually 
agreed termination clauses a notice period up to 2 years is to be considered and a cancellation fee is payable to EXMAR Shipmanagement. A tran-
sition schedule, subject to the operations of each vessel, and a payment schedule for the cancellation fee has been agreed between both parties 
end 2019. The first prepayment of the cancellation fee has been received at December 31, 2019 and is recognised as deferred income at year-end. 
The cancellation fee will be recognised in operating income in 2020 and/or 2021, depending upon the actual transition date for each vessel once all 
performance obligations have been satisfied by EXMAR Shipmanagement NV. 
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30. FINANCIAL RISKS AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

During the normal course of its business, EXMAR is exposed to various risks as described in more detail in the Corporate Governance Statement. 
EXMAR is exposed to credit, interest, currency and liquidity risks and in order to hedge this exposure, EXMAR uses different financial instruments, 
mainly interest rate hedges situated within our equity accounted investees. EXMAR applies hedge accounting for all hedging relations which meet 
the conditions to apply hedge accounting (formal documentation and high effectiveness at inception and on an ongoing basis). Financial instruments 
are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, the effective portion of changes in fair value of the financial instruments 
qualifying for hedge accounting, is recognised in other comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion of changes in fair value and changes in fair 
value of financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The following table shows financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value, including their level in the fair value hierarchy. 

FAIR VALUE & FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 DECEMBER 2019

Equity securities - FVTPL 3,166 1,004 0 4,170
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE 3,166 1,004 0 4,170
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE 0 0 0 0

Financial instruments other than those listed above are all measured at amortized cost.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk policy
Credit risk is monitored closely on an ongoing basis by the Group and creditworthiness controls are carried out if deemed necessary. At year-end no 
significant creditworthiness problems were noted. The borrowings to equity accounted investees consist of shareholder loans to our equity accounted 
investees that own or operate an LPG vessel or Offshore platform. As all vessels are operational and generate income, we do not anticipate any 
recoverability issues for the outstanding borrowings to equity accounted investees. The equity accounted investees for whom the share in the net 
assets is negative, are allocated to other components of the investor’s interest in the equity accounted investee and if the negative net asset exceeds 
the investor’s interest, a corresponding liability is recognized. The term of the shareholder loans are discussed in note 17 of this annual report. 

Exposure to risk

2019 2018

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Borrowings to equity accounted investees 49,979 54,203
Other investments - equity instruments at FVTPL 4,170 4,022
Trade and other receivables 34,607 60,940
Restricted cash 67,270 67,270
Cash and cash equivalents 52,626 39,837

208,653 226,272

The carrying amounts of the financial assets represent the maximum credit exposure.

Impairment losses
As past due outstanding receivable balances are immaterial, no ageing analysis is disclosed. No important impairment losses have occurred and at 
reporting date, no significant allowances for impairment have been recorded.
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INTEREST RISK

Interest risk policy
The interest-bearing loans are mainly negotiated with variable interest rates. In order to monitor this interest risk, the Group makes use of interest 
hedging instruments available on the market when management is of the opinion that it is favorable to do so. For the moment, no interest rate swaps 
exist within our subsidiaries. On the other hand, different interest rate swaps exist within our equity accounted investees. The Group applies hedge 
accounting when the conditions to apply hedge accounting are met. In case no hedge accounting is applied, the changes in fair value are recorded in 
the statement of profit or loss. 

Exposure to risk

2019 2018

EXPOSURE TO INTEREST RATE RISK

Total borrowings (*) 391,612 392,918
with fixed interest rate 46,975 19,285
with variable interest rate: gross exposure 344,637 373,633

Interest rate financial instruments (nominal amount) 0 0
NET EXPOSURE 344,637 373,633

(*) The difference of the total borrowings compared to the balance sheet amount relates to transaction costs, accrued interests payables allocated to the loan account and leasing 
liabilities as a consequence of the implementation of IFRS 16. 

Sensitivity analysis
In case the interest rate would increase/decrease with 50 basis points, the financial statements would be impacted with the following amounts (as-
suming that all other variables remain unchanged):

2019 2018

+ 50 bp - 50 bp + 50 bp - 50 bp

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Interest-bearing loans (variable interest rate) -1,723 1,723 -1,868 1,868
Interest rate swaps and cross currency rate swaps 0 0 0 0
SENSITIVITY (NET) -1,723 1,723 -1,868 1,868
Impact in profit or loss -1,723 1,723 -1,868 1,868
Impact in equity 0 0 0 0
TOTAL IMPACT -1,723 1,723 -1,868 1,868

A significant portion of EXMAR’s interest income is derived from borrowings to equity accounted investees with variable interest rates. Any increase/
decrease in the interest rate would result in an increase/decrease of interest income but would mainly be offset by an increase/ decrease in the in-
terest expense recognized by the equity accounted investee for a corresponding amount. Accordingly, any increase/decrease in the variable interest 
rate applied on the borrowings to equity accounted investees would have no impact on the net result of the Group. Therefore, borrowings to equity 
accounted investees have not been included in the above sensitivity analysis. 



EX
M

AR
 R

EP
O

RT
 2

01
9

110

CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s currency risk is historically mainly affected by the EUR/USD ratio for manning its fleet, paying salaries and all other personnel-related 
expenses. EXMAR Netherlands BV has completed a new unsecured bond issue of NOK 650 million in 2019. In order to monitor the currency risk, 
the Group uses a range of foreign currency rate hedging instruments if deemed necessary. As per 31 December 2019 and 2018, no financial instru-
ment contracts were outstanding to cover the EUR/USD exposure or the NOK/ USD exposure. 

Exposure to risk
Exposure to currency risk, based on notional amounts in thousands of foreign currency:

2019 2018

EUR NOK SGD ARS EUR NOK GBP

Receivables 11,489 70 0 98,173 12,576 0 0
Payables -16,045 -107 -1,501 -19,924 -19,632 -70 -583
Interest-bearing loans 0 -650,000 0 0 -14 -912,450 0
BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE -4,556 -650,037 -1,501 78,249 -7,070 -912,520 -583
IN THOUSANDS OF USD -5,118 -74,039 -1,116 1,307 -8,095 -105,031 -746

Sensitivity analysis
As per 31 December 2019 an increase in the year-end EUR/USD rate of 10% would affect the statement of profit or loss with USD -0.5 million 
(2018: USD -0.8 million). A 10% decrease of the EUR/USD rate would impact the profit or loss statement with the same amount (opposite sign). 

The NOK/USD exposure on the outstanding NOK bond is not covered by financial instrument contracts. An increase in the year-end NOK/USD 
rate of 10% would affect the statement of profit or loss with USD -7.4 million (2018: USD -10.5 million). A 10% decrease of the NOK/USD rate 
would impact the profit or loss statement with the same amount (opposite sign). 

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk policy
The Group manages the liquidity risk in order to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The risk is managed through a continuous cash flow pro-
jection follow-up, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratio’s against internal and regulatory requirements and maintaining a diverse range of funding 
sources with adequate back-up facilities. Different debt covenants exist that require compliance with certain financial ratio’s. As of December 31, 
2019 EXMAR was compliant with all covenants. We also refer in this respect to note 25 regarding borrowings and to note 32 regarding capital 
commitments. 

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities, borrowings to equity accounted investees and financial guarantees
Our current financial liabilities such as trade and other payables are expected to be paid within the next twelve months and are therefore not included 
in below tables. The contractual maturities of our financial liabilities and our borrowings to equity accounted investees, including estimated interest 
payments, are detailed in the tables below. The contractual maturities of our financial liabilities are based on the contractual amortization tables of 
the facilities. The bridge loans and the straight loans are not included in the tables below. The contractual maturities of our borrowings to equity ac-
counted investees are based on the contractual amortization table of the loan for the Electra Offshore Ltd facility and on the cash flow projections 
for future years for the EXMAR LPG shareholder’s loan. EXMAR has also provided guarantees to financial institutions that have provided credit 
facilities to her equity accounted investees. The amount that EXMAR could have to pay if the guarantee is called on, is disclosed below under financial 
guarantees. 
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AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2018

NON-DERIVATIVE  
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Bank loans USD libor + 3% 2019-
2020 -19,891 -20,549 -16,105 -4,444 0 0

Bank loans/other loans USD libor + 2.4%
2023-
2024-
2025 

-66,278 -76,272 -10,362 -10,390 -33,843 -21,677

Bank loans USD libor + 3% 2029 -177,353 -255,251 -27,205 -27,264 -77,514 -123,268

Bond NOK Nibor + 8%
Libor +8.5% 2019 -123,295 -130,633 -130,633 0 0 0

Other bank loans EUR -50 -60 -38 -22 0 0

-386,867 -482,765 -184,343 -42,120 -111,357 -144,945

BORROWINGS TO EQUITY  
ACCOUNTED INVESTEES USD 54,203 72,168 7,502 6,458 37,749 20,459

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES USD 0 -318,538 -60,511 -29,875 -153,923 -74,229

 Contractual cash flows
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AS PER 31 DECEMBER 2019

NON-DERIVATIVE  
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Bank loans/other loans USD libor + 
2.4%

2023-
2024-
2025

-98,916 -108,078 -16,454 -16,529 -58,880 -16,215

Bank loans USD libor + 3% 2019 -166,667 -212,850 -24,884 -23,681 -68,159 -96,126

Bond NOK Nibor + 
8.75% 2022 -74,029 -93,825 -7,950 -7,919 -77,956 0

Other loans USD 10.75% 2021 -20,000 -23,303 -2,037 -21,266 0 0

Lease liabilities ROU assets USD -18,371 -18,834 -16,742 -1,106 -986 0
Lease liabilities ROU assets EUR -3,111 -3,248 -1,704 -844 -508 -192
Lease liabilities ROU assets SGD -42 -44 -33 -1 -9 0
Lease liabilities ROU assets INR -142 -168 -45 -47 -75 0

-381,277 -460,350 -69,850 -71,394 -206,573 -112,533

BORROWINGS TO EQUITY  
ACCOUNTED INVESTEES USD 49,979 71,546 3,435 14,690 52,846 575

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES USD 0 -271,678 -35,506 -149,129 -19,476 -67,567
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FAIR VALUES

Carrying amounts versus fair values 

2019 2018

Fair value 
hierarchy (*)

Carrying 
amount Fair value Carrying 

amount Fair value

CARRYING AMOUNTS VERSUS FAIR VALUES

Borrowings to equity accounted investees 2 49,979 46,605 54,203 50,188
Other investments - equity instruments at FVTPL 1/2 4,170 4,170 4,022 4,022
Interest-bearing loans 2 -405,433 -426,676 -386,867 -396,650

-351,284 -375,901 -328,642 -342,440

(*) The financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are analysed and a hierarchy in valuation method has been defined: level 1 being quoted bid prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities, level 2 being inputs in other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the related assets and liabilities, either directly (as prices) 
or indirectly (derived from prices), level 3 being inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. The breakdown between level 1 and 2 of the equity 
instruments at FVTPL is shown in the beginning of this note. 

BASIS FOR DETERMINING FAIR VALUES:

Borrowings to equity accounted investees present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at reporting date

Equity instruments at FVTPL quoted closing bid price at reporting date for Teekay shares and Frontera shares/ non-quoted 
closing fixing price at reporting date through a public auction via Euronext for Sibelco shares

Interest-bearing loans  present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at reporting date

For certain financial assets and liabilities (trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other payables) not carried at fair value, 
no fair value is disclosed because the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of the fair values.

31. LEASES (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

We also refer to the accounting policies - section changes in accounting policies and section Lease. 

LEASES AS A LESSEE

The Group leases properties, motor vehicles and IT equipment. 

Property Motor vehicles IT equipment Total

RIGH-OF-USE ASSETS

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2019 5,529 6,901 596 13,026
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 3,981 1,720 410 6,111

For the full roll forward schedule in respect of the right-of-use assets including the depreciation charge for the year, we refer to note 14 of this 
annual report. 
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AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS

2019

LEASES UNDER IFRS 16

Interest on lease liability 1,392
Expenses related to short-term leases 0
Expenses related to leases of low-value assets 0

2018

OPERATING LEASES UNDER IAS 17

Lease expense 2,178

There are no extension or termination options on the lease contracts. 

For the maturity analysis in respect of related lease liabilities, we refer to note 30. 

LEASES AS A LESSOR

The Group entered into long-term time charter agreements for certain assets in its fleet. In respect of lease classification, it was judged that substan-
tially all risks and rewards remain with the Group. As a consequence, these agreements qualify as operating leases. The accounting policies applicable 
to the Group as a lessor are not different from those under IAS 17. 

Rental income recognised by the Group during 2019 was USD 51.4 million (2018: 33.6 million). 

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting date. 
No variable lease payments are included. 

2019

OPERATING LEASES UNDER IFRS 16

Less than one year 76,636
One to two years 68,783
Two to three years 68,783
Three to four years 68,783
Four to five years 68,783
More than five years 310,114
TOTAL 661,882

2018

OPERATING LEASES UNDER IAS 17

Less than one year 67,812
Between one and five years 276,079
More than five years 378,896
TOTAL 722,787
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32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

As per December 31, 2019 the capital commitments are as follows:

Subsidiaries (*) Equity accounted 
investees

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Shipping-segment 139,516 0
139,516 0

In March 2018 EXMAR announced it had contracted 2 VLGC Newbuildings with LPG as a fuel for the main engine at Hanjin Heavy Industries & 
Construction at Subic Bay (Philippines) to serve long-term commitments with Equinor ASA of Norway for worldwide LPG transportation.
 
In January 2019 Hanjin Heavy Industries & Construction at Subic Bay (Philippines) filed for rehabilitation due to financial difficulties. The construc-
tion disruptions caused thereby obliged EXMAR to cancel both Shipbuilding Contracts and invoke the Refund Guarantee from Korean Development 
Bank (South Korea) to recover each of the Instalments already paid. These instalments (USD 27.2 million) have been repaid during the first semester 
of 2019 together with an interest of 6%. 
 
In order to fulfil its long-term commitments towards Equinor ASA of Norway, EXMAR entered into shipbuilding contracts with Jiangnan Shipyard 
(China) for 2 VLGC’s with LPG as fuel. These contracts are also covered by a Refund Guarantee. The delivery of these vessels is expected in the 
second quarter of 2021. 

(*) Payment schedule for the two contracted VLCC newbuilds is as follows: 

Timing In thousands of USD
2020 (**) 15,470
2021 at delivery 124,046
TOTAL 139,516

 
(**) paid per January 22, 2020

33. CONTINGENCIES

In September 2019, GUNVOR gave notice of a dispute under the Charter for EXMAR’s FSRU unit and has commenced arbitration. This arbitration 
procedure could last several months. EXMAR is confident about the outcome. Meanwhile the charter remains in full force and effect and manage-
ment is of the opinion that the hire paid is effectively earned.

EXMAR NV received a tax assessment of USD 1.0 million regarding the tax treatment of remunerations paid. Even though the management as-
sessed that the tax claim is not valid, a receivable, for the same amount as the liability, has been accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
per 31 December 2019. 

Several of the Group’s companies are involved in a number of minor legal disputes arising from their day-to-day operations. The management does 
not expect the outcome of these procedures to have any material effect on the Group’s financial position. 
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34. RELATED PARTIES (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

We also refer in this respect to the remuneration report (for remuneration policy) and to the Board of Directors report (for information relating to 
conflicts of interests). 

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

Saverex NV, the major shareholder of EXMAR NV prepares consolidated financial statements available in Belgium. Saverex NV is controlled by Mr. 
Nicolas Saverys (CEO of EXMAR). 

TRANSACTIONS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER AND WITH  
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER RELATED PARTIES

Saverbel NV and Saverex NV, both controlled by Mr. Nicolas Saverys, charged KEUR 453 to the Group (2018: KEUR 392) for general administration 
services provided during 2019. The outstanding amount at year end in respect of these services amounts to KEUR 20 (2018: KEUR 72). 

EXMAR Shipmanagement charged KEUR 669 to Saverex for shipmanagement services in respect of the yacht “Douce France” (2018: KEUR 
464). The outstanding amount at year end in respect of these services amounts to KEUR 0 (2018: KEUR 174). 

During 2019, an amount of KEUR 122 was invoiced to Mr. Nicolas Saverys as a consequence of private expenses to be recharged. The relating out-
standing amount per 31 December 2019 in respect of these services is KEUR 5.5. Per 31 December 2018, a provision of KEUR 397 was accounted 
for in this respect. 

TRANSACTIONS WITH JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

EXMAR provides general, accounting, corporate, site supervision and shipmanagement services to its joint ventures and associates. For these ser-
vices, fees are charged based on contractual agreements between all parties involved. Below table gives an overview of the significant receivables, 
significant payables and the related P&L amount of services provided and received. 

Receivables per 
31/12/2018

Payables per 
31/12/2018

Services 
provided 

P&L2018

Services 
received 

P&L2018

SERVICES (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

Shipmanagement services 579 89 12,336 0
General, accounting and corporate services 0 5,200 976 0
Site supervision & plan approval services 36 0 940 0
Rental services 0 0 0 1,238

Receivables per 
31/12/2019

Payables per 
31/12/2019

Services 
provided 

P&L2019

Services 
received  

P&L 2019

SERVICES (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

Shipmanagement services 1,378 37 13,625 0
General, accounting and corporate services 873 0 722 0
Site supervision & plan approval services 0 0 0 0
Rental & other services 0 0 0 1,040

EXMAR also provides borrowings to its joint ventures and associates for which an interest income is recognised in the financial statements. We refer 
to note 17 for an overview of these borrowings and to note 8 for the total amount of interest income. 
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TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Board of Directors

2019 2018

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

Chairman 100 100
Other members (individual amount) 50 50
Total paid (*) 485.6 500

(*) The total amount paid to the members of the Board of Directors represents the total payments to all non-executive and independent directors for the activities as members of 
the Board of Directors. The directors,who are member of the executive committee and were paid accordingly, have foregone the director’s payment. No loans were granted to the 
members of the Board in 2019. The outstanding amount per 31 December 2019 in respect of recharged private expenses to Mr. Nicolas Saverys is KEUR 5.5. Per 31 December 
2018, a provision of KEUR 397 was accounted for in this respect. 

Audit committee

2019 2018

AUDIT COMMITTEE (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

Chairman 20 20
Other members (individual amount) 10 10
Total paid 50 50

Nomination and remuneration committee

2019 2018

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

Chairman 10 10
Total paid 30 30

Executive Committee
The remuneration of the members of the Executive Committee is determined annually by the Board of Directors on the basis of a proposal of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The remuneration consists of a fixed component and a variable component. The variable component is 
partly determined in function of the financial result of the Group. 

End of 2019 the Executive Committee, excluding the CEO, consisted of four members. All members of the Executive Committee (including the 
CEO) have a self-employed status. In the event of termination of their appointment, they have no contractual right to any form of severance com-
pensation. Three members of the Executive Committe are represented by means of their management company. In the event of termination by 
EXMAR, FLX Consultancy BVBA (represented by Jonathan Raes) would be entitled to a compensation equivalent of nine month’s salary, Chirmont 
NV (represented by Miguel De Potter) to a compensation equivalent of three month’s salary and Lisann AS (represented by Jens Ismar) to a com-
pensation equivalent of three months salary. 

2019 2018

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, EXCLUDING CEO (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

Total fixed remuneration 2,493 2,366
of which for insurance and pension plan 265 333
of which value of share options 0 0

Total variable remuneration 0 625
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2019 2018

CEO (IN THOUSANDS OF EUR)

Total fixed remuneration 998 997
of which for insurance and pension plan 175 174
of which value of share options 0 0

Total variable remuneration 0 1,100

No loans were granted to the members of the executive committee in 2019. The outstanding amount per 31 December 2019 in respect of re-
charged private expenses to Mr. Nicolas Saverys is KEUR 5.5. Per 31 December 2018, a provision of KEUR 397 was accounted for in this respect. 

The members of the executive committee are among the beneficiaries of the 4 share option plans approved by the Board of Directors.  
The accumulated number of options (plan 4 and plan 8 to 10) allocated to the members of the executive committee are as follows:

2019 2018

NUMBER OF SHARES ALLOCATED

Nicolas Saverys 198,624 227,553
Patrick De Brabandere 134,464 156,160
Pierre Dincq 100,847 108,982
Marc Nuytemans 90,000 90,000
Miguel de Potter 90,000 90,000
David Lim 97,232 104,464
Jonathan Raes 2,500 2,500

713,667 779,659

A number of key management personnel, or their close family members, hold positions in other companies that result in them having control or joint 
control over these companies. None of these companies transacted with the Group during the year.
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35. GROUP ENTITIES

Country of 
incorporation Company id Consolidation 

method
Ownership

2019 2018

CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

JOINT VENTURES
Estrela Ltd Hong Kong Equity 50.00% 50.00%
EXMAR Gas Shipping Ltd Hong Kong Equity 50.00% 50.00%
EXMAR LPG BVBA Belgium 0501.532.758 Equity 50.00% 50.00%
EXMAR Shipping BVBA Belgium 0860.978.334 Equity 50.00% 50.00%
Good Investment Ltd Hong Kong Equity 50.00% 50.00%
Monteriggioni Inc. Liberia Equity 50.00% 50.00%
Reslea NV (*) Belgium 0435.390.141 Equity 0.00% 50.00%
Solaia Shipping Llc Liberia Equity 50.00% 50.00%
ASSOCIATES
Bexco NV Belgium 0412.623.251 Equity 44.91% 44.91%
Bureau International Maritime NV (*) Belgium 0462.574.489 Equity 0.00% 40.00%
Bureau International Maritime Congo (*) Congo Equity 0.00% 40.00%
Compagnie Parisienne Formation et 
Logistique (*) France Equity 0.00% 40.00%

Electra Offshore Ltd Hong Kong Equity 40.00% 40.00%
Exview Hong Kong Ltd Hong Kong Equity 40.00% 40.00%
Marpos NV Belgium 0460.314.389 Equity 45.00% 45.00%
Springmarine Nigeria Ltd Nigeria Equity 40.00% 40.00%
SUBSIDIARIES
Ahlmar Germany GmbH Germany Full 100.00% 60.00%
Ahlmar SA (*) Luxembourg Full 0.00% 60.00%
Ahlmar Ship Management NV Belgium 0676.847.588 Full 100.00% 60.00%
Best Progress International Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
Croxford Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
DV Offshore SAS France Full 100.00% 100.00%
ECOS SRL Italy Full 60.00% 60.00%
EXMAR Argentina (**) Argentina Full 100.00% 0.00%
EXMAR Energy France France Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Energy Hong Kong Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Energy Netherlands BV Netherlands Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Energy Services BV Netherlands Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Export Netherlands Netherlands Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR FSRU Hong Kong Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Holdings Ltd Liberia Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Hong Kong Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR LNG Holding NV Belgium 0891.233.327 Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR LNG Investments Ltd Liberia Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Lux SA Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Marine NV Belgium 0424.355.501 Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Netherlands BV Netherlands Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR NV Belgium 0860.409.202 Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Offshore Company USA Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Offshore Ltd Bermuda Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Offshore Services SA Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Offshore NV Belgium 0882.213.020 Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Shipmanagement NV Belgium 0442.176.676 Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Shipmanagement India Private Ltd India Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Shipping USA Inc USA Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Small Scale LPG NL BV Netherlands Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Small Scale LPG HK Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR Small Scale LPG BE NV Belgium 0713.409.957 Full 100.00% 100.00%
EXMAR (UK) Shipping Company Ltd Great-Britain Full 100.00% 100.00%
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Country of 
incorporation Company id Consolidation 

method
Ownership

2019 2018

CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

EXMAR VLGC BV (**) Belgium 0739.802.370 Full 100.00% 0.00%
EXMAR Yachting NV Belgium 0546.818.692 Full 100.00% 100.00%
Export LNG Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
Farnwick Shipping Ltd (***) Liberia Full 0.00% 100.00%
Franship Offshore Lux SA Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00%
Fertility Development Co. Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
Glory Transportation Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
Hallsworth Marine Co. Liberia Full 100.00% 100.00%
Internationaal Maritiem Agentschap NV Belgium 0404.507.915 Full 99.03% 99.03%
Laurels Carriers Inc Liberia Full 100.00% 100.00%
Seavie Private Ltd India Full 100.00% 100.00%
Talmadge Investments Ltd British Virgin Islands Full 100.00% 100.00%
Tecto Cyprus Ltd Cyprus Full 100.00% 100.00%
Tecto Luxembourg SA Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00%
Travel Plus NV Belgium 0442.160.147 Full 100.00% 100.00%
Universal Crown Ltd Hong Kong Full 100.00% 100.00%
Vine Navigation Co. (***) Liberia Full 0.00% 100.00%

(*) These companies have been sold during the accouting year. For Reslea, we refer to note 10 for further information. 

(**) These companies were incorporated during the accouting year. 

(***) These companies were liquidated during the accouting year. 
 

36. MAJOR EXCHANGE RATES USED

Closing rates Average rates

2019 2018 2019 2018

EXCHANGE RATES

EUR 0.8902 0.8734 0.8918 0.8447
GBP 0.7573 0.7812 0.7844 0.7478
HKD 7.7865 7.8319 7.8370 7.8371
NOK 8.7803 8.6885 8.7857 8.1245
ARS 59.8700 NA 47.1800 NA
KRW 1,153.8900 NA 1,160.8300 NA

All exchange rates used are expressed with reference to the USD.

37. FEES STATUTORY AUDITOR

The worldwide audit and other fees in respect of services provided by the statutory auditor or companies or persons related to the auditors, can be 
detailed as follows:

2019 2018

FEES STATUTORY AUDITOR

Audit services 457 384
Audit related services 130 3
Tax services 124 89

711 476

For 2019 and 2018, the non-audit fees do not exceed the audit fees. 
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38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 26, 2020 Bank of China finally released the amount of USD 40 million from the debt service reserve account. The relaxation of the 
cash collateral follows the steady operational results of the TANGO FLNG since September 2019, under the 10-years’ charter with YPF S.A. The 
amount of USD 40 million has been partially allocated to the repayment of the bridge loans and to cover EXMAR’s capital commitments.

The vessel TEMSE which is situated within one of our equity accounted investees, has been registered as held for sale as a consequence of ongoing 
negotiations with a potential buyer. An impairment loss of in total USD 1.3 million (EXMAR share: USD 0.65 million) has been registered in the 
accounts to reflect the fair value of the vessel (USD 4.65 million for 100%). 

A purchase obligation has been registered for an aircraft as a consequence of a contractual modification. In the course of 2019 an impairment loss 
of USD 4.7 million has been registered in the statement of profit or loss to reflect the current market value of the asset. Per 31 December 2019, 
the aircraft has been presented as non-current asset held for sale in the balance sheet. Per 26 February 2020, the aircraft has been purchased for 
an amount of USD 15.4 million. 

COVID-19 is causing a high level of uncertainty in the world. Several operational measures on-shore and on-board have been taken by EXMAR to 
ensure the safety and wellbeing of our personnel and continuity of our business operations. The majority of our ships are currently operating under 
medium to long-term contracts. We are however subject to certain risks with respect to market dynamics. We are however subject to certain risks 
with respect to our contractual counterparties, and failure of such counterparties to meet their obligations could cause us to suffer losses or impact 
our liquidity position. EXMAR continues to closely monitor the situation.

SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The significant judgements and estimates that might have a risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year relates to: 

Going Concern
Over the past months EXMAR’s liquidity positions was closely monitored and evolved positively amongst other because of: 

* On February 26, 2020 Bank of China finally released the amount of USD 40 million from the debt service reserve account in respect of financing 
of TANGO FLNG. The relaxation of the cash collateral follows the steady operational results of the TANGO FLNG since September 2019, under 
the 10-years’ charter with YPF S.A. The amount of USD 40 million has been partially allocated to the repayment of the bridge loans and to cover 
EXMAR’s capital commitments.
 
* EXMAR has obtained and drawn under a pre-delivery financing of USD 20 million with Maritime Asset Partners in December 2019, which partially 
covers the instalments paid during the construction of the two VLGC under construction.
 
The company is of the opinion that, taking into account its available cash and cash equivalents, its undrawn committed facilities available on the date 
of establishing the consolidated financial statements, its project cash flows based on approved budgets and the liquidity impact of the elements 
listed below, it has sufficient liquidity to meets its present obligations and cover its working capital needs for a period of at least 12 months from the 
authorization date of this annual report. 
 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been prepared on a going concern basis. The main assumptions 
and uncertainties for EXMAR underpinning the going concern assessment are concentrated around following matters:
 
* In September 2019, GUNVOR gave notice of a dispute under the Charter and has commenced arbitration. This arbitration procedure could last 
several months. Meanwhile management assumes that the charter remains in full force and effect and management is of the opinion that the hire 
paid is effectively earned and no amounts should be repaid. 

* EXMAR assumes to obtain post-delivery financing to cover the payments in April and June 2021 of the last instalments at delivery of the 2 Very 
Large Gas Carriers under construction at Jiangnan, amounting to USD 62 million per vessel, as well as the repayment of the pre-delivery financing 
at that date.

* Considerations received from YPF with respect to the barge TANGO FLNG are paid into a restricted earnings account with Bank of China, the 
provider of financing of the TANGO FLNG. Management assumes that Bank of China will give its consent to withdraw excess cash, after payments 
to the debt servicing account. 

* COVID-19 is causing a high level of uncertainty in the world. Several operational measures on-shore and on-board have been taken by EXMAR to 
ensure the safety and wellbeing of our personnel and continuity of our business operations. The majority of our ships are currently operating under 
medium to long-term contracts. We are however subject to certain risks with respect to market dynamics. We are however subject to certain risks 
with respect to our contractual counterparties, and failure of such counterparties to meet their obligations could cause us to suffer losses or impact 
our liquidity position. EXMAR continues to closely monitor the situation.
 
Covenants
In light of its ongoing operational challenges and the resulting pressure on its financial position, the Company is closely monitoring its compliance with 
the financial covenants. The Company has met all its financial covenants as at December 31, 2019 and the next testing date with respect to the finan-
cial position as at the end of June 2020 is in September 2020. EXMAR believes that based on forecasts for the remaining of the year, and more in 
particular thanks to the revenue to be generated by TFLNG and the FSRU barge, all covenants will be met as per June 2020 and December 2020. 
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EXMAR is continuously monitoring compliance with all applicable covenants. If a breach of covenants would occur, the Company will request and 
believes it will be able to obtain a waiver from the relevant lenders. See also note 25 of this report. 

The unexpected delays in the release of the USD 40 million caused EXMAR to continue to pay careful attention to the liquidity of the Company. The 
receipt of the restricted cash under the TANGO FLNG financing together with other anticipated cash flows (i.e. the charter fees from the shipping 
and infrastructure assets), allows EXMAR to cover its financial commitments budgeted for the year 2020.

Considering the assumptions and uncertainties described above, the Board is confident that management will be able to maintain sufficient liquidities 
to meet its commitments and therefore it has an appropriate basis for the use of the going concern assumption. In the event the above assumptions 
are not timely met, there is a material uncertainty whether the Company will have sufficient liquidities to fulfil its obligations of at least 12 months 
from the date of authorising these financial statements. 

Provisions
The LNG EXCEL, owned by one of our joint ventures, was party to a lease arrangement in the UK whereby the Lessor could claim depreciation on the 
capital expenditures it incurred to acquire the vessel (Capital Allowances). As is typical in these leasing arrangements, tax and change of law risks are 
assumed by the Lessee. Our joint venture terminated this lease arrangement in August 2013. The UK tax authorities (HMRC) have made inquiries 
in respect of the right to receive the Capital Allowances. Based on commercial, legal and financial considerations, our position is that the allowances 
were validly claimed and we have informed HMRC accordingly. However, in case of a successful challenge by the UK tax authorities of the tax 
treatment of the lease, we could be required to compensate the Lessor for any tax amount to be reimbursed to the tax authorities. The amount held 
on the joint venture company’s account (USD 1.7 million for EXMAR’s share), is maintained to cover our obligations to the Lessor and has therefore 
been provisioned in the current financial period. Last year no such provision was recognised in the consolidated financial statements of EXMAR as 
the possible outflow could not be accurately calculated at that time. 

STATEMENT ON THE TRUE AND FAIR VIEW OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND  
THE FAIR OVERVIEW OF THE MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Board of Directors, represented by Nicolas Saverys and Jalcos NV represented by its legal representative Ludwig Criel , and the Executive 
Committee, represented by Patrick De Brabandere (CFO) and Francis Mottrie (Deputy CEO), hereby certifies on behalf and for the account of 
the company, that to their knowledge, 

- the consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union, give a true and fair view of the equity, financial position and financial performance of the company, and the entities included in the 
consolidation as a whole, 
-the annual report on the consolidated financial statements includes a fair overview of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the company, and the entities included in the consolidation, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties which they 
are exposed to.
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR

STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING OF EXMAR NV FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 - CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	

In the context of the statutory audit of the consolidated financial statements of EXMAR NV (“the company”) and its subsidiaries (jointly “the 
group”), we hereby submit our statutory audit report. This report includes our report on the consolidated financial statements and the other legal and 
regulatory requirements. These parts should be considered as integral to the report. 

We were appointed in our capacity as statutory auditor by the shareholders’ meeting of 16 May 2017, in accordance with the proposal of the board of 
directors (“bestuursorgaan” / “organe d’administration”) issued upon recommendation of the audit committee. Our mandate will expire on the date 
of the shareholders’ meeting deliberating on the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019. We have performed the statutory audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of EXMAR NV for 3 consecutive periods.

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unqualified opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the group, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes. The consolidated statement of financial position shows total assets of 909 767 (000) USD and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss shows a loss for the year then ended of 13 202 (000) USD.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s net equity and financial position as of 31 December 2019 
and of its consolidated results and its consolidated cash flow for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.

Basis for the unqualified opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA), as applicable in Belgium. In addition, we have applied the 
International Standards on Auditing approved by the IAASB applicable to the current financial year, but not yet approved at national level. Our re-
sponsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Responsibilities of the statutory auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements” section of our report. We have complied with all ethical requirements relevant to the statutory audit of consolidated financial statements 
in Belgium, including those regarding independence.

We have obtained from the board of directors and the company’s officials the explanations and information necessary for performing our audit.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern
We draw attention to Note “Significant judgements and estimates” in the financial statements, which states that the Company is facing ongoing 
challenges that put pressure on its financial position. In preparing the financial statements, and as disclosed in this note, the board has considered four 
main assumptions and uncertainties to be successfully and timely completed to provide sufficient liquidity to the Company during a period of at least 
12 months from the authorization date of the annual report. These assumptions and uncertainties form a material uncertainty that may cast signifi-
cant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern when not timely realized. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

 IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – VESSELS 

•	Property, plant and equipment – vessels with a carrying amount of 
576 605 (000) USD represent 63% of the consolidated balance 
sheet total as at 31 December 2019. Management’s assessment of the 
valuation of property, plant and equipment is significant to our audit 
because this process is complex and requires significant management 
judgement. 

•	Reference to disclosures
We refer to the consolidated financial statements, including notes to the 
consolidated financial statements: 11 – vessels. 

•	We considered the process and the internal controls implemented by 
management and we carried out testing relating to the design and im-
plementation of management’s controls to assess impairment indica-
tors and perform impairment testing. 

•	We validated for each cash generating unit if impairment indicators, as 
determined by IAS 36, were considered in the impairment assessment 
of management. 

•	We obtained the appraisal reports from external brokers which are used 
by management to test for impairment indicators and to determe the 
fair value less costs to sell (“FVLCTS”) of the vessels. 

•	We tested management’s assumptions used in the value in use (“VIU”) 
calculations especially the most critical assumptions such as the post 
contract charter rates and discount rates. In challenging these assump-
tions, we took into account actual results, negotiated contract terms, 
external data, independent market reports and market conditions. 

•	Furthermore, we evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures regarding 
the impairments of property, plant and equipment.

Responsibilities of the board of directors for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium 
and for such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters to be considered for going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the board of 
directors either intends to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no other realistic alternative but to do so.

Responsibilities of the statutory auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a statutory auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assur-
ance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

During the performance of our audit, we comply with the legal, regulatory and normative framework as applicable to the audit of consolidated finan-
cial statements in Belgium. The scope of the audit does not comprise any assurance regarding the future viability of the company nor regarding the 
efficiency or effectiveness demonstrated by the board of directors in the way that the company’s business has been conducted or will be conducted.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from an error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

•	obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control;

•	evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board 
of directors;

•	conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the board of directors and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our statutory auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our statutory auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to 
continue as a going concern;

•	evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, and whether the consolidated financial state-
ments represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities within the group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the audit committee regarding, amongst other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit find-
ings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and we 
communicate with them about all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applica-
ble, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated to the audit committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law or regulation 
precludes any public disclosure about the matter.

OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Responsibilities of the board of directors
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and the content of the directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements, the 
statement of non-financial information attached to the directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements and other matters disclosed in the 
annual report on the consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of the statutory auditor
As part of our mandate and in accordance with the Belgian standard complementary to the International Standards on Auditing (ISA) as applicable 
in Belgium, our responsibility is to verify, in all material respects, the director’s report on the consolidated financial statements, the statement of 
non-financial information attached to the directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements and other matters disclosed in the annual report 
on the consolidated financial statements, as well as to report on these matters.

Aspects regarding the directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements 
In our opinion, after performing the specific procedures on the directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements, this report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements for that same year and has been established in accordance with the requirements of article 3:32 of the 
Code of companies and associations.

In the context of our statutory audit of the consolidated financial statements we are also responsible to consider, in particular based on information 
that we became aware of during the audit, if the directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements is free of material misstatement, either 
by information that is incorrectly stated or otherwise misleading. In the context of the procedures performed, we are not aware of such material 
misstatement.

The non-financial information as required by article 3:32, § 2 of the Code of companies and associations, has been disclosed in the directors’ report 
on the consolidated financial statements. This non-financial information has been established by the company in accordance with an internationally 
recognised framework. In accordance with article 3:80 § 1, 5° of the Code of companies and associations we do not express any opinion on the 
question whether this non-financial information has been established in accordance with this internationally recognised framework.

Statements regarding independence

•	Our audit firm and our network have not performed any prohibited services and our audit firm has remained independent from the group during 
the performance of our mandate.

•	The fees for the additional non-audit services compatible with the statutory audit, as defined in article 3:65 of the Code of companies and associ-
ations, have been properly disclosed and disaggregated in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Other statements
This report is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee referred to in article 11 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014.

Zaventem, 6 April 2020
The statutory auditor
Deloitte Bedrijfsrevisoren/Réviseurs d’Entreprises CVBA/SCRL
Represented by Gert Vanhees
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BALANCE SHEET
(IN THOUSANDS OF USD) 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS 703,235 619,568
(In)-tangible assets 414 394
Financial assets 702,821 619,174
CURRENT ASSETS 120,100 117,273
Amounts receivable within one year 70,344 79,250
Investments 17,501 19,587
Cash and cash equivalents 31,965 18,201
Accrued income and deferred charges 290 235
TOTAL ASSETS 823,335 736,841

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY 704,115 659,230
Capital 88,812 88,812
Share premium 209,902 209,902
Reserves 84,103 86,338
Accumulated profits 321,298 274,178
PROVISIONS AND DEFERRED TAXES 337 337
Provisions and deferred taxes 337 337
LIABILITIES 118,883 77,274
Amounts payable within one year 118,883 77,274
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 823,335 736,841

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(IN THOUSANDS OF USD)

01/01/2019
-31/12/2019

01/01/2018
-31/12/2018

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Operating income 3,538 3,846
Operating expenses -9,075 -9,551
OPERATING RESULT -5,537 -5,705
Financial income 58,350 24,788
Financial expenses -5,816 -7,606
RESULT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAX 46,997 11,477
Income tax -2,112 -1,297
RESULT FOR THE YEAR 44,885 10,180

APPROPRIATION OF RESULT

Result to be appropriated 319,063 270,516
Transfer from/(to) capital and reserves 2,235 3,662
Result to be carried forward -321,298 -274,178
Distribution of result 0 0

The statutory accounts of EXMAR NV are disclosed hereafter in a summarised version. The full version will be filed with the National Bank of Belgium. 
The full version is available on the Company’s website (www.exmar.be) and a copy can be obtained free of charge on request. An unqualified audit 
opinion has been expressed by the statutory auditor. 
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BWTS Ballast water treatment system
cbm Cubic meters (m³)
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CO2 Carbon dioxide
COO Chief Operating Officer
DVO DV Offshore
EBIT Earnings before interest and taxes
EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization
EE Excelerate Energy
EEDI Energy Efficiency Design Index
EEOI Energy Efficiency Operational Indicator
EOC EXMAR Offshore Company
ESI Environment Ship Index
ESM EXMAR Ship Management
FID Final Investment Decision
FLNG Floating Liquefaction of Natural Gas
FPS Floating Production System
FPSO Floating Production Storage and Offloading-unit
FSO Floating Storage and Offloading
FSU Floating Storage Unit
FSRU Floating Storage and Regasification Unit
GDPR General Data Protection Regulation
GHG Greenhouse gas
HFO Heavy Fuel Oil
HMPE High Modulus Polyethylene 
HR Human Resources
HSEQ Health, Safety, Environment and Quality
HSEEQ Health, Safety, Environmental Energy and Quality
HyMethShip Hydrogen Methanol Ship
IAS International Accounting Standards
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
ISM International Safety Management
ISO International Organization for Standardization
JV Joint venture
k 1,000
KPI Key Performance Indicators
LGC Large Gas Carrier
LNG Liquefied Natural Gas 
LNG/C Liquefied Natural Gas Carrier
LNGRV Liquefied Natural Gas Regasification Vessel 
LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas
LTI Lost Time Injurie
LTIF Lost Time Injury Frequency
M³ Cubic metres
MGC Midsize Gas Carrier 

GLOSSARY
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Midsize 20,000 m³ to 40,000 m³ 
Mio Million
MMSCFD Million standard cubic feet per day
MT Metric tons
MTPA Million tons per annum 
NH³ Ammonia 
NM Nautical Mile
O&M Operations & Maintenance
OB Order book
OCIMF Oil Companies Marine International Forum
OPEX Operating Expenditures
Petchems Petrochemicals 
PPE Personal Protective Equipment
PPM Parts per million
R&D Research & Development
REBITDA Recurring earnings before interests, taxes, depreciations and amortizations
Semi-ref. Semi-refrigerated LPG carrier
SMS Safety Management Systems
STS Ship-to-ship
TC Time charter
TCE Time charter equivalent
TMSA Tanker Manager Self-Assesment
TRCF Total Recordable Cases Frequency
TTSL Taking The SAFETY LEAD
U/C Under Construction 
US United States 
USA United States of America 
USCG United States Coast Guard
USD United States Dollar 
VCM Vinyl Chloride Monomer
VLGC Very Large Gas Carrier 
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